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IT1.
THE HIGHLAND PIONEERS CI* TTIE COUNTY OF MIDDLESEX.

It is difficult, if not impossible, for men of the present generation to
estimate aright the courage and heroism of their Highland ancestors.
Inspired by a noble patriotism, knit to their homes by sacred associations,
and the traditions of many centuries, qualified by their mental equip-
ment to admire and enjoy its beautiful scenery, hound to race and clan
with the strong ties of friendship and affection so characteristic of the
Gael. It is hard to appreciate fully the intensity of the strain, or the
severity of the trial of their expatriation. Before them was an ocean
voyage in sailing vessels, both tedious and dangerous, and a scarcely
less tedious and difficult journey from Quebee or Montreal to their
western forest homes. But to counterbalance all this there was a pre-
vailing dissatisfaction with their condition in the ITighlands, a noble
ambition to hetter themselves by securing perfect freedom and inde-
pendence, and a calm, tirm reliance on an overruling Providence.

Once arrvived at their destination their hardships, so far from
ended, were only really beginning. A vast stretch of almost pathless
forest, with only here and there a clearing, surrounded and comforted
them, and the situation taxed to the utmost their native energy as well
as their powers of endurance. 1t is not necessary here to do more than
simply mention the struggle of years in clearing the land and bringing
it into cultivation, the many privations, the simple life in the old log
cabins, their devoted attachment to their native land, and their loved
Gaelic, their steadfast persevering battle with obstacles, and their final
suceess and vietory. It is proper to say here that though this paper is
confined entirely to the Highland settlers, the pioncers of other origins
are no less worthy of honorable mention.

As a people they carried with them from their Highland homes and
grandly illustrated the characteristies of their races. Their stalwart
physique and capacity for endurance were not only proved and tested,
but exercised and strengthened by the inevitable hardships and exer-
tions of their environment. They were gifted with strong intellects and
keen powers of observation. No less prominent was their moral stamina
and their reverence for religious worship and institutions. With few
exceptions their lives were upright, and their cconomy and thriftiness,
a necessity in the early days, were continued in the days of their pros-
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perity. In the midst of the great woods and their howling denizens, so
complete a contrast to their Highland abode, even more strikingly were
the traits of friendship and hospitality displayed, and their gouls knit
together in traternal fellowship. (taelic was practically the only
language spoken, and all their customs, not only from their early train-
ing, but from their surroundings, were simple and primitive. The old
Highland ‘‘Ceilah™ kept in the long winter evenings, around greal
blazing log fires, rested and vefreshed them as the pleasant hours were
gpent in recalling the scenes, incidents, and even superstitions of their
native land, and reciting or singing Gaelic songs or hymns. They had
their faults but they were like spots in the sun. The Celtie fire was
sometimes associated with an irascible temper. Firm as their granite
hills at times this degenerated into obstinacy, or the open, honest,
straightforwardness passed into abruptness, or their whole-souled hos-
pitality was maimed by prejudice against people of other origins.

The dawn of eivilization in Middlesex County first appeared in the
township of Delaware, and here we also find a trace, but only a trace,
of the pioneer Highlander of the County, Ronald MeDonald, who in
1798 obtained a patent of the land on which Delaware village stands,
put soon after sold out to Dr. Oliver Tiffany. It is stated that John
Gutherland came in 1829, but as far as known there were no others till
the close of the pioneer period. In London township there appear to
have been two distinet settlements, one near what is now Ilderton, and
one near Hyde Park, In the former the first settler was John Carmichael,
and in the latter Dunean McKenzie; hoth came in 1818, and were prob-
ably, except Roderick MeDonald, the first Highland pioneers in the
county. In Mosa the Highland settlers occupied the northern part of
the township from the 4th to the 10th concession, and the first settler
was Archibald Sinelair, 1827. Many others followed in the next few
years, a large number of whom had come to Aldborough, Elgin County,
at an earlier date. In Lobo about two dozen families settled in 1820,
and from that time till 1835 they continued to eome till they had taken
possession of the greater part of the township. Among these were the
Johnsons, the Grahams, the McKellars and Meclntyres. The first High-
landers who eome into Ekfrid were Angus Campbell, his two sons, John
and Maleolm, and his son-in-law, John Melntosh, in 1821. From that
time till 1835 the stream continued to flow till it had filled practically
the whole township. The first in Caradoe were Archibald and Mal-
colm Campbell, 1822. Not many followed till 1829-1835, when posses-
sion was taken of the northern part of the township. In 1831 a dozen
stalwart Tighlanders, prominent among whom was Donald MeIntosh,
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settled in East Williams. The wave of immigration continued during
that and the two following years until about 100 families had come in,
chiefly from the northern counties of Scotland. There was a second
wave of immigration in 1848-49-50, which not only completely filled
this township, but overflowed into West Williams, and was chiefly from
the western islands of Scotland. In this latter settlement it is said the
first pioneer was Donald MeGregor, 1846. In Westminster there were
comparatively few Iighlanders located south of the sixth concession,
and John Munro appears to have heen the first, 1831, As the early his-
tory of London has been so elaborately written by others, T need only
say from what I can glean the pioneer Iighlander of London was
Patrick McGregor, 1826. As far as could be ascertained there were no
Highland pioneers in Biddulph, and very few in Nissouri. A few High-
landers, all from Inverness, came into McGillivray in 1849, and about
fifty years ago a small colony from the island of Uist settled there, but
are now said to be extinet. There were also a few Highlanders in North
Dorchester, of whom the first is said to have been Dan. MeCallum, 1830.
Except as mentioned, nearly all came from Argyleshire. I say nothing
of Metealfe, as it was included in Ekfrid and Adelaide till near the close
of the pioneer period.

It is a historical fact that in the matter of public or common
school education, Scotland was very considerably in advance of Iing-
land. All through the ITighlands, parish schools had long been estab-
lished, and the instruction was valuable, even if not very extensive. It
was, therefore, only what might he expected that the early Highland
settlers, from their past associations and their strong intellectual bias,
would lose no time in giving attention to the education of their children.
The buildings and equipment in the early years were rude and primitive,
but as time passed conditions improved. The first log school house in
Mosa was erected in S. S. No. 8, about 1836, followed by another in No.
9, soon after. Patrick McOregor was probably the first teacher in
No. 8, and others were Duncan McCallum, Findlay Munroe, and Walter
Payne. In Metealfe the first school was opened in 1839, and the first
teacher was Duncan MecCallum. The pioneer school in Ekfrid was on
lot 6, Longwoods’ Road, 1836, and the pioneer teacher was Mr. Smith,
followed by William Livingstone, and he by Malcolm Campbell. The
first log school house in Canada was erected in the early thirties, on the
9th concession, but it was burned down, and a blacksmith’s shop on lot 1,
concession 7, Lobo, was utilized for the purpose and attended by children
from both townships. Some years after the Caradoe academy, on the
Longwoods’ Road was opened and conducted by Wm. Livingstone, until




THE IIGHLAND PIONEERS Of MIDDLESEX, 29

it was burned down in 1857. In Lobo a log school house was erected as
early as 1826, on lot 7, concession 6, but never roofed or occupied. The
first school house to be used was built about 1831 on lot 1, concession 6,
and was soon followed by others when the township was divided into sec-
tions from 1835 to 1840. Among the pioneer teachers of those years were
John Irvine, Donald McRae and Robert Dixon. In East Williams the
first school opened in 1837 on the exact spot on which the Nairn hotel
afterwards stood, and the first teacher was William Munro, long kindly
* remembered by his pupils and the people generally. In 1839 or 1840
the next school was opened at Beechwood, and one of the first, if not
the very first, teacher was Wm. Wells. In West Williams, which was
settled at a much later date, the first log school house in S. 8. No. 12 was
built in 1857, and the first teacher was Miss Dewar, of Lobo. In West-
minster the first school house (a little log one) was in S. 8. No. 13,
and Mr. MeCormick, who had been engaged as teacher in the old land,
was the first teacher. The pupils who attended those primitive schools,
in most cases knew only Gaelic, but they soon acquired a knowledge of
English, and made such rapid progress in their studies that hefore
many years had passed they could compare favorably with those of other
origins. An unusually large number entered into intellectual pursuits,
and twenty-five years ago Rev. Wm. R. Sutherland, of Ekfrid, in
response to an inquiry, stated that he had made a careful estimate and
found that up to that time in Western Ontario, 500 of the descendants
of the early Highland pioneers had become teachers, or entered into the
ministry or learned professions. Faith in a presiding Almighty Ruler
of all things was a prominent trait of Highland character. The
physical features of their country, the grand scenery, the glens and
hens, and locks and islands, the great old ocean, and even the
mountain mists and torrents, were all well calculated to imbue an
impressible and emotional people with belief in the supernatural. Their
acute powers of ohservation, their vivid imagination, their lofty con-
ception of moral obligation and physical and mental beauty, were
abundantly shown in the large volume of Gaelic poetry which had
heen gathering and increasing for centuries. But in addition it may
be said that many of them, even in the early ages, received the gospel
as the power of God unto Salvation through the labors of St. Columbus
and others, and the mighty impulse which the career of John Knox gave
to religion in Seotland was felt, even in the Highlands. Not only were
parishes and parish ministers established throughout, but for many
decades preceding the coming migration, many able, scholarly, fervent
and faithful men hy their zealous and extended labors, helped 'to keep
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alive the flow of true devotion and genuine religion. To this people, in
the great woods the change was great, and the contrast in almost every
feature sharp and clear, but it did not efface old memories, nor was it less
unfavorable to their religious tendencies or convictions, So it comes
about that before being visited by pionecer preachers of any kind, the
more devout and spiritual met together for prayer, conference and
worship. They were also helped and comforted by reading their Gaeli¢
Bibles, reading and singing the Gaelic Psalms and paraphrases, and
perusing the ‘‘Pilgrim’s Progress,”’ and many other good books which
had been translated into their native language.

The great majority of the Highland pioneers of Middlesex were
Presbyterians. Those who settled in West Williams at a later date were
in part Roman Catholic, and there were a few of the same faith in
Ekfrid. There were also a few Baptists, and a considerable number in
some of the townships became Baptists at a later date. Speaking of
Presbyterian Churches, a house for public worship was erected in East
Williams in 1835 on a splendid lot of 118 acres, granted by the Canada
Company, and was succeeded by a large frame church in 1842. A com-
modious church was erected in Bkfrid in 1849, and in the area then
included there are no less than 10 separate congregations. About 1835
a small log house for religious servieces was built in Mosa, followed in
a few years by a large one, and in 1867 by a brick church. In West-
minster services were for a time held in a school house until a church
was built in 1854. In 1860 the first log church was erected in Caradoe.
The first Baptist churches were erected in Loho in 1837, followed by
a brick structure in 1855, and in Ekfrid in 1840, succeeded by a frame
building in 1854.

Among the pioneer ministers of the Church of Scotland who labored
in Middlesex in the early days, were Alex. Ross, and Donald McKenzie,
1830; W. McKellar, 1833 ; Dugald McKellar, Lobo, 1839. Soon after a
minister, named Cameron, spent some time among the people of Ekfrid,
and among the others may be mentioned Wm. R. Sutherland, Ekfrid,
1848-1898; Donald McKenzie and Donald Allan, as visitors, 1834; in
East Williams, Duncan MeMillan, 1839; and Lachlan McPherson, 1849,
as settled pastors in the same township. Also Wm. MeGillivray and
Alex. Fraser in the late forties. Robert Stevenson, 1856; Dr. John
Seott, D, MceKenzie and D, McMillan, Hyde Park, in the forties. John
McEwen, 1852, and Duncan McColl (an ordained chatechist), 1841, both
in Westminster. Archibald Stewart, Kilmartin, 1862; John Ferguson,
Caradoe, 1860. Among the pioneer Baptist ministers who labored with
great success among the carly settlers in Tiobo, Caradoc and Ekfrid
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from 1827 onwards were Dugald Campbell, Thomas McColl, Duncan
Lamont, and Duncan MeCallum. Dugald Sinclair, a minister of the
Disciples or Christian Church, labored in Lobo from 1831 to his death,
in 1870. In the decade ending 1856 Kather Iirwan visited the Roman
Catholies who had settled in West Williams. A church was built in 1861,
and the succeeding priests were Fathers O’Donavan, Kellehan, O’Shea,
Lamont, Corcoran and McRae. Fathers O’Danavan, Lamont and
McRae, as well as nearly all of the ministers mentioned, could speak and
preach in Gaelic. The preaching in the early years was mostly in that
language, but I believe there is only one place—Kilmartin—where it
ig still continued.

From three important documents of the pioneer period, two of which
have come into my own possession, I am able to glean some interesting
information. The assessment roll of the township of Lobo for 1825,
written in a plain legible hand and signed by John Baskin, contains
altogether 49 names, 29 of whom were Highlanders. The total value of
assessed property was £2,675 8s., Halifax currency at $4 to the £ and
the total taxes were £13 9s. 9d. One-fourth of a penny per pound was
for payment of members of the Assembly for their services. The tax
paid by Joel Westhrook was only four pence, and Captain John
Matthews paid the highest tax, £1 12s. Hd.

Much more full and complete than the similar roll for Lobo is the
assessment roll for Ekfrid for 1827, probably the first one prepared
there. Tt also Dears the signature of John B. Askin, as clerk of the
London district. It contains 46 names of whom only about ten were
Highlanders. The lot and concession as given shows that all settled
along and on hoth sides of the Longwoods’ Road, which had been opened
up in 1812. It was the only road then open, and there was not one
settler in the rest of the township to the north and south, which was all
unbroken forest. As a rule each one of the settlers had 100 acres or a
total of 4,312 acres; only 121 acres was arable land in patches of from
one to twenty acres. The total population was 107, total valuations
£1,198 8s., total taxes £7 13s. 4d., and the wolf hunger, the overshadow-
ing influences of friendship and fraternity and the higher claims of
religion so occupied their attention that politics had little or no place
in their horizon. Besides, they had no means of obtaining the knowledge
on which alone intelligent political opinion could be based. But the
upheaval of 1837, the mission of Lord Durham, the granting of respon-
sible government in 1841, the establishment of municipal institutions in
1842, and the publication of newspapers constituted the beginning of
a new era. Almost from the first there was a more or less distinet line



32 ONTARIO HISTORICAL SOCIETY,

of cleavage between the two great political parties, which have ever
since steadily maintained their organization and identity, and High-
landers and their sons have not been slow to take their places in the
political arena, and fill the most exalted positions in the gift of the
people. :

To Andrew J. Ross, who unearthed what was probably the first
assessment roll of Williams for 1833, I am indebted for some of its inter-
esting contents. There were on this roll forty names in all, and with
scarcely an exception they were all Highlanders. The wild land is put
down at 4,590 acres, cultivated land 141 acres, assessed value £1,254.
This last in 1837 had increased to £4,627. At the foot of the list 1s the
entry, ‘‘in the County of Huron.’” In the early years there was praecti-
cally no politics among the Highland pioneers. The franchise was to
them a new privilege, which, as a rule, they had never before enjoyed,
and it took some time to estimate its value and realize its responsibility.


















































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































